Marquette University

e-Publications@Marquette

Chemistry Faculty Research and Publications/College of Arts and Sciences

This paper is NOT THE PUBLISHED VERSION; but the author's final, peer-reviewed manuscript. The published version may be accessed by following the link in the citation below.

Biochemistry, Vol. 57, No. 5 (2018): 872-881. <u>DOI</u>. This article is © American Chemical Society and permission has been granted for this version to appear in <u>e-Publications@Marquette</u>. American Chemistry Society does not grant permission for this article to be further copied/distributed or hosted elsewhere without the express permission from American Chemical Society.

Contents

Abstract2
Materials and Methods4
Results
Lipid Membrane Mimic with Nanoscale Lipid Domains4
Preferential Localization of the N-Ras C-Terminal Lipopeptide6
Test of the Raft Boundary Localization of the C-Terminal N-Ras Peptide
Determination of the Domain Localization with Time Domain Fluorescence Measurements
Preferential Localization of N-Ras Bound with Fluorescent GDP and GTP Mimics9
Discussion11
Conclusions13
Supporting Information14
Acknowledgment
References14

Study of Förster Resonance Energy Transfer to Lipid Domain Markers Ascertains Partitioning of Semisynthetic Lipidated N-Ras in Lipid Raft Nanodomains

Anna K. Shishina Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Elizaveta A. Kovrigina Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Azamat R. Galiakhmetov Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Rajendra Rathore Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Evgenii L. Kovrigin Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI

Abstract

Cellular membranes are heterogeneous planar lipid bilayers displaying lateral phase separation with the nanometer-scale liquid-ordered phase (also known as "lipid rafts") surrounded by the liquid-disordered phase. Many membrane-associated proteins were found to permanently integrate into the lipid rafts, which is critical for their biological function. Isoforms H and N of Ras GTPase possess a unique ability to switch their lipid domain preference depending on the type of bound guanine nucleotide (GDP or GTP).

This behavior, however, has never been demonstrated *in vitro* in model bilayers with recombinant proteins and therefore has been attributed to the action of binding of Ras to other proteins at the membrane surface. In this paper, we report the observation of the nucleotide-dependent switch of lipid domain preferences of the semisynthetic lipidated N-Ras in lipid raft vesicles in the absence of additional proteins. To detect segregation of Ras molecules in raft and disordered lipid domains, we measured Förster resonance energy transfer between the donor fluorophore, mant, attached to the protein-bound guanine nucleotides, and the acceptor, rhodamine-conjugated lipid, localized into the liquid-disordered domains. Herein, we established that N-Ras preferentially populated raft domains when bound to mant-GDP, while losing its preference for rafts when it was associated with a GTP mimic, mant-GppNHp. At the same time, the isolated lipidated C-terminal peptide of N-Ras was found to be localized outside of the liquid-ordered rafts, most likely in the bulk-disordered lipid. Substitution of the N-terminal G domain of N-Ras with a homologous G domain of H-Ras disrupted the nucleotide-dependent lipid domain switch.

Lipid rafts, the nanoscale lipid domains, in a plasma membrane of living cells play a crucial role in organizing cellular signaling and regulatory cascades.¹⁻⁶ Micrometer-sized lipid domains with a liquid crystal-like order may be easily observed by optical fluorescence microscopy in model membranes constituted from heterogeneous lipid mixtures.^{4,7-10} However, their cellular counterparts are expected to be much smaller, nanometer-sized, meaning they can be resolved only by electron and atomic force microscopy techniques.¹¹⁻¹⁴ In a cell, many membrane proteins permanently reside in raft membrane domains, which is essential for their function.^{5,15-19} Ras, a small monomeric GTPase, provides an intriguing example of a membrane protein that dynamically switches its nanodomain affinity upon the transition between its active and inactive functional states (bound to GTP and GDP, respectively).²⁰⁻²³

Ras is a small monomeric GTPase involved in the regulation of cell growth, proliferation, and differentiation.²⁴ Mutations in the Ras genes are observed in ≤25% of all human cancers, which makes Ras one of the major targets for cancer therapy.²⁵⁻²⁸ Ras consists of a GTPase catalytic domain (G domain) binding guanine nucleotides and the C-terminal peptide anchored to the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane through a posttranslational lipidation motif.²⁹⁻³¹ Membrane attachment is crucial to Ras function; i.e., most effector proteins can be activated by Ras-GTP only when it is associated with the membrane surface.^{25, 32}

Ras proteins are represented by three Ras isoforms with a high degree of homology and nearly 90% sequence identity in the N-terminal GTPase domain.³³ The 22 or 23 remaining C-terminal amino acids, known as the hypervariable region, have no sequence similarity except for the conserved CAAX motif necessary for membrane targeting.³⁴ The variability of the C-terminal sequences of the Ras isoforms leads to different processing patterns in the cell. All Ras isoforms are modified by attachment of a prenyl (farnesyl) chain at the extreme C-terminal cysteine. H-Ras and N-Ras additionally get two palmitoyl chains and one palmitoyl chain, respectively, while K-Ras4B features a polybasic domain as an alternative membrane-anchoring mechanism.^{29,35} It was demonstrated that the membrane-targeting region is responsible for partitioning of proteins between membrane domains.³⁶

A dynamic change in H-Ras localization from cholesterol-rich rafts to the disordered lipid domains upon activation (GTP binding) was first observed using density gradients and immuno-gold electron microscopy in native cellular membranes.^{22,37-40} An explanation of this behavior of H-Ras was proposed when scaffolding protein galectin-1 was found to associate with activated H-Ras nanoclusters in

disordered lipid domains.⁴¹ The K-Ras isoform was found to reside in the disordered phase irrespective of its activation status (bound to GDP or GTP).^{22,38} The lipid domain preferences of N-Ras remain controversial as it was observed in a raft phase of COS-7 cell membranes when in the GDP form,⁴² while Roy reported that N-Ras-GDP was localized in the disordered lipid phase of BHK cells and moved to raft domains upon GTP binding.⁴³ Experiments in model membranes recapitulated none of these findings; i.e., N-Ras was found concentrated at the raft–disordered domain boundary in model lipid bilayers irrespective of the bound nucleotide.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁷ The behavior of N-Ras has been studied in these reports in very different systems ranging from natural plasma membranes of BHK and COS-7 cells to synthetic lipid mixtures, which might be one of the causes of observed differences. The dynamic shift from one phase to another upon activation of N-Ras observed by Roy et al.⁴³ could be due to binding to yet unidentified protein scaffolds (by analogy with H-Ras).

In this report, we make use of a full-length semisynthetic lipidated N-Ras to establish for the first time that it is capable of changing its nanodomain localization in model lipid membranes in a nucleotide-dependent manner in the absence of any other proteins.

Materials and Methods

The Materials and Methods section in its entirety is included in the Supporting Information.

Results

Our goal was to assess relative affinity of N-Ras lipoprotein for raft and disordered lipid domains in a model lipid system and determine whether the raft affinity of N-Ras is dependent on the nature of a bound nucleotide (hence, the biologically active/inactive protein conformation) in the absence of "helper" proteins. Because of the nanoscale dimensions of rafts, we relied on measurements of FRET between the Ras-attached fluorophore and fluorescent lipid domain markers.⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ H-Ras localization was previously probed by FRET to lipid domain markers, but those reports did not include N-Ras.^{51,52}

In the following subsections, we (1) evaluated the model lipid bilayers to confirm that they form nanometer ordered domains mimicking the size of cellular rafts, (2) detected nonraft localization of the C-terminal lipidated peptide of N-Ras, (3) evaluated a hypothesis that the C-terminal peptide may be attracted to the raft boundary, (4) established lifetime-based detection of nanodomain localization, and (5) determined nanodomain preferences of N-Ras and the H/N-Ras chimera in the active and inactive states (bound to GTP mimic or GDP).

Lipid Membrane Mimic with Nanoscale Lipid Domains

To create lipid bilayers that spontaneously form nanometer-sized raft domains (ranging from approximately 4 to 15 nm), we followed the method of Pathak and London⁵⁰ and utilized a lipid mixture of sphingomyelin (SM), 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC), and cholesterol in an equimolar ratio (known hereafter as the raft lipid mixture). A pure POPC lipid was used to make homogeneous (nonraft) control bilayers. Confocal fluorescence microscopy of a supported lipid bilayer made of the raft lipid mixture confirmed that these bilayers do not form nonphysiological micrometer-sized rafts (Figure 1). We used NBD-DPPE (green fluorescence) as a lipid raft marker and Rhod-DOPE (red fluorescence) as a disordered domain marker to detect micrometer-sized domains. Figure 1 reveals the absence of significant areas of green and red color, confirming that the size of rafts and disordered

domains in this bilayer is on the order of or smaller than the optical resolution of the microscope, \sim 200 nm (compare to the work of Crane and Tamm¹⁰).



5 μm 1 μm pixel size = 80 nm

Figure 1. Overlay of images of NBD-DPPE fluorescence (green) and Rhod-DOPE fluorescence (red) in supported lipid bilayers made of the raft lipid mixture (1:1:1 SM:POPC:Chol molar ratio). Bright yellow spots correspond to aggregated LUVs that were not removed during the wash phase (similar to observations by Tamm and McConnell⁵³). Black areas (in the middle of the image) are, likely, due to defects on the glass surface.

To detect the presence of nanoscopic lipid rafts, we measured FRET between donors and acceptors segregated in raft or nonraft lipid domains.⁴⁸ 1,6-Diphenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene (DPH) served as a donor that is uniformly distributed in a lipid bilayer, while Rhod-DOPE was an acceptor that is preferentially excluded from the lipid rafts.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶ Therefore, in a raft lipid membrane, some fraction of DPH is segregated from Rhod-DOPE. Heating of LUV samples leads to melting of rafts and an increased level of quenching of DPH fluorescence by Rhod-DOPE relative to a segregated raft bilayer. The *R*₀ of 36 Å allows for sensitive detection of formation and melting of nanoscopic raft nanodomains.⁵⁰

To demonstrate the nanoscale domain segregation in raft LUVs, we recorded the fluorescence signal of DPH in the absence and presence of Rhod-DOPE (F_o and F samples, respectively; DPH concentration held constant) as a function of temperature (Figure 2A). Quenching of the DPH signal by rhodamine manifested itself in a reduced ratio of fluorescence intensity of F to F_o samples. Because of the difficulty with complete subtraction of the excitation light scattered by LUVs, the absolute values of the F/F_o intensity ratio on the Y axis contained both FRET and scattering contributions. However, because the light scattering by LUVs is relatively temperature-independent, the variation of F/F_o with temperature reflects the relative change in FRET from DPH to Rhod-DOPE. The similarity of the overall shape of the profiles obtained upon heating and cooling confirmed the reversibility of the measurement and relative photostability of the fluorophores. The raft LUV samples revealed a characteristic sigmoidal transition indicating relative segregation of acceptors from donors at lower temperatures and an increased access of acceptors to donors upon heating due to the melting of the lipid rafts (reduction in average size(50)) as schematically illustrated in Figure 2B. Note that the homogeneous LUV controls did not reveal dramatic changes in F/F_o upon heating.



Figure 2. Presence of rafts in SM/POPC/cholesterol lipid bilayers detected by FRET between lipid domain markers. (A) Heating and cooling profiles of the homogeneous and raft LUV solutions with the DPH (0.1% mol) and Rhod-DOPE (2% mol) donor/acceptor pair at a scan rate of 0.5 °C/min. Each curve is an average of two independent samples. The fluorescence intensity ratio, F/F_0 , is calculated using DPH emission of F and F_0 samples, with and without Rhod-DOPE, respectively. (B) Schematic drawing illustrating the increase in the relative level of access of Rhod-DOPE acceptors (magenta stars) to the DPH donor molecules (green stars) upon heating. The gray area represents a lipid raft.

Preferential Localization of the N-Ras C-Terminal Lipopeptide

To determine the contribution of a lipidated C-terminus of N-Ras to the protein interactions with raft and nonraft lipid domains, we evaluated the preferential localization of the N-Ras C-terminal lipopeptide in the absence of the G domain. The *N*-methylanthranyl group (mant) was attached to the lipopeptide N-terminus to serve as a donor fluorophore. Spectral properties of mant are comparable to those of DPH; therefore, we expected a similar Förster radius and a similar sensitivity to domain localization.

Heating and cooling profiles of F/F_o for the mant-lipopeptide (Figure 3) revealed a pattern, which was the opposite of that observed for DPH in Figure 2A. Heating led to an increase in F/F_o indicating reduction of the FRET efficiency at higher temperatures, while a homogeneous lipid showed relatively constant F/F_o values. In an analogous system, Fastenberg et al. explained such an increasing pattern by hypothesizing that the donor is present in the same disordered phase as the acceptor.⁵⁷ In this scenario, melting of rafts upon heating leads to an increase in the disordered phase area and spreading of donor and acceptor fluorophores in the membrane plane, which results in a reduction in FRET efficiency (greater intensity of *F* samples).



Figure 4. Disordered domain markers demonstrate increasing FRET with a decrease in raft size. (A) F/F_0 temperature dependence for the dansyl-DOPE donor (0.1% mol) incorporated into the homogeneous and raft-containing lipid bilayers containing Rhod-DOPE (2% mol). (B) Schematic representation illustrating an increase in the average distance between donors (green stars) and acceptors (magenta stars) due to the melting of a raft phase (gray).

Test of the Raft Boundary Localization of the C-Terminal N-Ras Peptide

Experiments with the mant-lipopeptide revealed that the lipopeptide is accessible to the acceptor fluorophore, Rhod-DOPE, at all times (Figure 3). However, these experiments could not determine whether the lipopeptide is uniformly distributed in the disordered lipid phase or concentrated at the boundary of the raft domains,^{44,58} because in both scenarios, the mant fluorophore will be easily accessible for quenching by rhodamine.

Localization of the lipopeptide at the raft boundary means that the lipopeptide acts as a lineactant (attracted to the line between two-dimensional phases, analogous to surfactants populating the surface separating three-dimensional phases), making the boundary more stable in its presence (i.e., line tension is reduced).^{59,60} Stabilization of the raft boundary may be directly tested by evaluation of melting profiles in the presence of different concentrations of the lineactant. The lineactant facilitates an increase of the total length of the boundary, thus promoting breakage of the existing rafts into smaller ones (destabilization of large rafts). A reduction in raft size will thus be detectable in FRET experiments with DPH and Rhod-DOPE, because DPH will be more effectively quenched by Rhod-DOPE in smaller rafts.

Figure 5 shows the heating profiles for raft LUVs in the presence of increasing concentrations of the lipopeptide [no fluorophore attached (see the Supporting Information for estimates of the lipopeptide density at the raft boundary)]. A reduction in F/F_o values upon heating due to the melting of lipid rafts occurs in a similar temperature range in the absence and presence of the lipidated N-Ras peptide. This observation implies that the raft boundary does not significantly attract the lipopeptide.



Figure 5. Test of boundary localization of the N-Ras C-terminal lipopeptide. Heating profiles for the raft LUVs with DPH and Rhod-DOPE and increasing concentrations of the nonfluorescent lipopeptide. The curves were shifted along the *Y* axis to facilitate the comparison of the transition region.

Determination of the Domain Localization with Time Domain Fluorescence

Measurements

Analysis of the FRET donor distribution among ordered and disordered lipid domains in the heating and cooling experiments described above relied on a measurement of relative fluorescence intensities in the two samples with and without an acceptor (F and F_o , respectively). Preparation of these samples required careful matching of the concentrations of the donor. This is relatively easy to accomplish for lipid mixtures that are made by taking accurate aliquots of fluorophore stocks; however, it was somewhat difficult to achieve for the protein associated with LUVs. The protein/LUV samples are made by mixing LUVs with lipidated protein to allow for (always partial) spontaneous incorporation of lipoprotein. Therefore, the protein density in a lipid bilayer is quite low and difficult to match between different samples. Determination of FRET through the lifetime measurements is expected to be superior to the intensity measurements in that it is insensitive to variations in donor concentration (with the downside, dramatically longer acquisition times). The lifetime measurement is a well-established method for characterizing the environment of the fluorophore labels (for examples, see the work of Bernsdorff et al.⁶¹ and Dong et al.⁶²) and lipid microdomains.⁶³⁻⁶⁵

Figure 6A demonstrates this approach with the DPH-rhodamine FRET pair in homogeneous and raftcontaining LUVs. The homogeneous and raft mixtures lacking an acceptor (F_0 samples, green and black symbols) exhibited relatively invariable lifetimes throughout the full temperature range. In the presence of an acceptor (F samples), the donor lifetime in a homogeneous sample (Figure 6A, blue symbols) is reduced but was unaffected by the temperature change. In contrast, the raft samples containing the acceptor (red symbols) reveal a significant decrease in DPH lifetime in a temperature range of the raftmelting transition. Figure 6B demonstrates a corresponding increase in the FRET efficiency reflecting greater quenching of DPH by Rhod-DOPE after rafts are melted (or reduced in average size). This observation is in agreement with our results based on measurement of the intensity in F and F_0 samples



in Figure 2, confirming the presence of lipid raft nanodomains at low temperatures in the SM/POPC/cholesterol LUV samples.

Figure 6. Raft stability in SM/POPC/cholesterol bilayers evaluated through time domain fluorescence measurements. (A) Lifetimes of DPH fluorescence at different temperatures in homogeneous and raft-containing mixtures in the presence and absence of acceptor Rhod-DOPE. (B) FRET efficiency calculated using eq 1 (see the Materials and Methods section of the Supporting Information) from lifetimes of DPH in panel A.

Preferential Localization of N-Ras Bound with Fluorescent GDP and GTP Mimics

To determine domain localization of a N-Ras lipoprotein in raft membranes, we measured FRET between the Ras-bound donor fluorophore and the acceptor Rhod-DOPE localized in disordered lipid domains. To mimic a full-length N-Ras with the native posttranslational lipidation pattern (one palmitoyl and one farnesyl chain), we prepared a semisynthetic protein following protocols developed by the Waldmann group.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸ Donor fluorophores were associated with Ras by exchanging GDP with the mant derivatives of guanosine nucleotides. The mant-conjugated nucleotides were successfully utilized in a number of biochemical studies, including experiments with Ras.⁶⁹⁻⁷¹ Because attachment of a reporter group to the nucleotide unavoidably induces some perturbations to the protein structure and function, we chose mant because it is one of the smallest available fluorophores (for example, the surface area of mant is only 150 Å² vs 476 Å² for Atto488). Mazhab-Jafari and co-workers demonstrated that mant slightly slows

(~30%) both the catalytic rate and nucleotide exchange kinetics in H-Ras.⁷² By comparison, another relatively small fluorophore, BODIPY, was observed to significantly accelerate spontaneous dissociation of the nucleotides,⁷³ which would lead to a loss of the label during sample preparation. In contrast, a slight inhibition of spontaneous nucleotide dissociation and hydrolysis by the presence of mant ensured the relative stability of Ras–mant-nucleotide complexes in our experiments.

To prepare protein/LUV samples, Ras lipoproteins were loaded with mant-nucleotides and associated with LUVs via overnight incubation. However, lipoproteins, such as lipidated full-length Ras, tend to aggregate in aqueous buffers because of their hydrophobic lipid modifications. Therefore, it was essential to ensure that any aggregated N-Ras that was not incorporated into LUVs was removed before fluorescence measurements. Using size-exclusion chromatography, we achieved complete separation of N-Ras associated with LUVs (eluted near the exclusion limit of the column, >800 kDa) from the N-Ras aggregates (~500 kDa) as well as from any unbound mant-nucleotides (Figure S1 and Table S2).

To establish the predominant lipid domain localization of the N-Ras bound to mant-nucleotides, we determined the efficiency of FRET between the mant group and Rhod-DOPE in homogeneous and raft LUVs. Because the thermal stability of Ras is relatively limited, we performed all experiments at low temperatures. Figure 7A shows FRET efficiencies observed for mant in N-Ras-mGDP and N-Ras-mGppNp in homogeneous and raft LUVs (for a complete summary of the lifetime measurements, see Table S1). N-Ras-mGDP and N-Ras-mGppNHp associated with homogeneous lipid bilayers demonstrated relatively high FRET efficiencies, indicating significant energy transfer from the mant fluorophore to the rhodamine of Rhod-DOPE. This is expected on the basis of the fact that the donors are readily accessible to acceptors in the homogeneous bilayer (no domains). In raft LUV samples, N-Ras-mGDP exhibited very low FRET values, indicating effective segregation of mant-labeled Ras-GDP from Rhod-DOPE at 5 °C. These samples also exhibited relatively shorter lifetimes, which might be explained by homotransfer^{74,75} between mant groups due to protein molecules crowding and/or clustering in the rafts.^{22,76,77} In contrast, Ras-mGppNHp exhibited relatively high FRET values that reported on the easy accessibility of mant to Rhod-DOPE.



Figure 7. Efficiency of FRET between mant and Rhod-DOPE in samples of (A) the N-Ras lipoprotein (N-Ras G domain fused to the cognate N-Ras C-terminal lipopeptide) and (B) the H/N chimera (H-Ras G domain fused to the N-Ras C-terminal lipopeptide) at 5 °C. Blue and red bars correspond to data for samples loaded with mGDP and mGppNHp, respectively. Error bars indicate standard deviations from four replicates. The N-Ras sample preparations with raft LUVs in panel A were additionally repeated to increase our level of confidence in the result (indicated as #1 and #2).

As an internal control, we attempted to convert raft samples into a "homogeneous" state by heating them to 37 °C when much of the raft phase was gone (see Figure 2). However, at this elevated temperature, all homogeneous and raft LUV samples displayed near-zero FRET efficiencies, suggesting that mant-nucleotides are completely separated from Rhod-DOPE. This separation might be due to dissociation of mant nucleotides from N-Ras upon heating considering the long (1–4 h) acquisition times of the TCSPC experiment and the weaker affinities of mant-nucleotides for Ras relative to GDP and GTP. Therefore, we chose to limit our discussion in this paper to the data obtained at low temperatures (<16 °C) where N-Ras is most stable, and the rafts are relatively larger.⁵⁰

Finally, we probed the sensitivity of the segregation mechanism to the protein sequence by preparing a chimeric construct made of the highly homologous N-terminal G domain of H-Ras fused with the N-Ras lipopeptide. Figure 7B shows that, despite the high degree of sequence similarity of the H- and N-Ras G domains, the substitution eliminated the lipid domain switch behavior.

Discussion

FRET analysis of association of N-Ras with lipid nanodomains presented in Figure 7A revealed that N-Ras in the GDP-bound form (signaling-inactive state) is concentrated in rafts but associates with the disordered phase when bound to a GTP mimic. The raft localization of N-Ras-GDP is in agreement with *in*

vivo observations of Matallanas et al., though the lipid domain preferences of N-Ras-GTP were not explored in this study.⁴² It contrast, Roy et al. observed the G12V N-Ras mutant clustered in cholesterol-dependent rafts (the G12V mutation ensures that the proteins was predominantly bound to GTP) while the wild type (GDP-bound) was not found to be clustered (remained outside of lipid rafts).⁴³ It should be noted that these research groups performed experiments on different types of cells: MDCK and COS-7⁴², and BHK.⁴³ Variability in the lipid membrane composition and the presence of cell-type specific membrane proteins may be, in part, responsible for the observed opposite localization patterns (the cell-type dependence of localization was recently reported for H-Ras⁷⁸).

In our study, we made it our goal to separate interaction of N-Ras with lipids from possible interactions with other cellular membrane proteins. Choosing an adequate lipid raft model for an *in vitro* study is difficult because the cellular bilayers are asymmetric with their inner leaflet (where Ras proteins are) enriched with negatively charged phosphatidylserine and completely lacking SM.^{79,80} The inner leaflet mixture, however, cannot spontaneously form rafts; instead, raft formation must be triggered by the cross-leaflet interdigitation with the lipids of the outer side of the plasma membrane (rich in SM).^{81,82} Preparation of such asymmetric LUVs was recently reported.^{82,83} However, performing experiments with asymmetric bilayers to study protein-nanodomain interactions is not straightforward as the lipid asymmetry is relatively short-lived; cells maintain it by a continuous action of lipid transporters, and the loss of lipid asymmetry is a signature of cell death.⁸⁴ LUVs in our work and all other Ras reports were inherently symmetric, which makes it difficult to evaluate which study made use of a more relevant lipid bilayer. Nicolini et al. used DMPC/DSPC/cholesterol LUVs and did not recapitulate any of the in vivo observations.⁴⁴ Larsen et al. analyzed the distribution of the N-Ras C-terminal lipopeptide in DOPS/PSM/cholesterol bilayers and found it to be populating raft domains.⁸⁵ This is contrary to the observation of Nicolini and others,⁴⁴ as well as our own data reported in this paper, suggesting that the choice of the lipid system is crucial and far from settled.

In our study, the lipid mixture with an equimolar ratio of SM, POPC, and cholesterol was used to create raft nanodomains most closely mimicking the size of cellular raft domains⁵⁰ and helped reveal the "raft affinity switch" in the N-Ras macromolecule. Obtained data allow us to conclude that while interactions with the cellular protein binding partners might be important for regulation of Ras domain preferences, the G domain itself controls the interaction with the raft phase, while the C-terminal lipopeptide "pulls" the protein outside of the raft. We do not consider our evidence of nonboundary localization of the Cterminal lipopeptide particularly strong due to the lack of a readily available positive control, such as a well-characterized lineactant that would serve as a calibration for the N-Ras peptide action in Figure 5. Therefore, our most accurate finding concerning the N-Ras lipid domain preferences would be that G domain in the GDP-bound state is strongly attracted to the lipid rafts, overcoming opposite preferences of the C-terminal lipopeptide; the Ras-raft interaction is weakened or absent in the GTP-bound form, allowing the C-terminal lipopeptide to draw N-Ras outside of the raft (to the boundary or into the disordered membrane). Molecular dynamics simulation by the Gorfe group determined that H-Ras Cterminal lipids favored localization at the raft boundary (due to palmitoyl chains favoring the ordered raft phase with the farnesyl lipid being excluded from it).⁸⁶ Because the N-Ras lipoprotein also has farnesyl and palmitoyl lipids, one might expect similar boundary localization for both the truncated Cterminal N-Ras lipopeptide and the full-length N-Ras when it is bound to GTP.

Gorfe et al. identified a set of basic residues in the H-Ras sequence that made specific contacts with the lipid bilayer in molecular dynamics simulations: R128, R135, R169, and K170.⁸⁷ Abankwa and co-workers

found these sites modulating Ras signaling function and proposed that conformations of these residues and the overall orientation of the G domain must be affected by the nucleotide binding site via an allosteric coupling mechanism.^{51,52,88} These positively charged sites are presented in N-Ras by conservative substitutions (K128, K135, and K169), while K170 is identical. At approximately the same time, using spin relaxation nuclear magnetic resonance measurements, we reported that G domains of H-Ras and K-Ras possessed global conformational exchange dynamics connecting the effector interface of Ras with the rest of the molecule.^{89,90} We demonstrated that the novel ion binding pocket on the membrane-facing side of the G domain in H-Ras described by Buhrman and co-workers⁹¹ was thermodynamically coupled to the nucleotide binding site while being nearly 20 Å away: its affinity for a divalent ion changes by a factor of 5 upon replacement of GDP with the GTP mimic.⁹² Because of the high level of sequence identity of the G domains, we reasonably expect N-Ras to possess the same allosteric coupling mechanism. However, our observation that the chimeric H/N-Ras construct does not discriminate the lipid nanodomains indicated the conserved features described above are not sufficient; the interactions between the N-terminal G domain and the C-terminal lipopeptide must also involve isoform-specific contacts.

The plausible molecular mechanism of the lipid domain recognition by Ras isoforms has not been resolved experimentally. Instead, Werkmuller et al. provided evidence that G domains of N and K-Ras are experiencing similar rotational freedom next to the membrane regardless of the bound nucleotide or the type of lipid bilayer (raft or homogeneous).⁹³ The similarity of rotational diffusion under all conditions implied that their G domains do not interact with the lipid other than through a C-terminally lipidated peptide acting as a tether (however, it was not clear if the Ras/LUV samples were separated from aggregated lipidated Ras or the authors simply assumed 100% binding and a negligible contribution from lipoprotein aggregates). This is why the view that other cellular proteins like galectins interact with the GTP-bound Ras and cause redistribution between lipid domains remains an attractive alternative.³⁸ However, N-Ras was not found to bind galectins, and most importantly, galectin 1 (interacting with H-Ras) is a cytosolic protein(94) recruited by H-Ras to the plasma membrane,⁴¹ making it less likely to be the domain recognition driver. In our experiments, the N-Ras·mGppNHp complex demonstrated association with rhodamine-labeled disordered domains while the N-Ras·mGDP complex was concentrated in rafts, all in the absence of other cellular components, which forces us to reconsider the role of a G domain in lipid raft recognition by Ras proteins.

Finally, we note an important caveat in the differences that may be reported in studies using bulk fluorescence measurements of LUVs versus confocal microscopy experiments (including single-molecule tracking). Confocal microscopy, by design, involves focusing of a very intense laser light into a very small area to ensure effective excitation. This mode of observation was demonstrated to create artifacts due to overly intense illumination, particularly when observing Ras, which is a tyrosine-rich molecule prone to irreversible photoactivated cross-linking.⁹⁵ Previously, we established that the light intensity used in a solution fluorescence measurement in a conventional spectrofluorometer did not lead to cross-linking artifacts in a highly homologous Ras construct;⁹⁶ therefore, oxidative cross-linking of N-Ras was not expected to negatively affect the results of this report.

Conclusions

In this study, we demonstrated that the N-Ras lipoprotein changes its lipid nanodomain preferences in a nucleotide-dependent manner in the absence of other membrane proteins (in a model lipid membrane).

The signaling-inactive, GDP-bound N-Ras was found to have preferential affinity for lipid rafts. N-Ras in its activated conformation (bound to the GTP mimic) was localized at the raft boundary or in a disordered lipid phase. The molecular mechanism must rely on specific interactions between the G domain and the C-terminal lipopeptide as the chimeric construct, including the G domain from H-Ras, did not reveal the nucleotide-dependent change in localization. Thus, we established that the specific nanodomain preference is an intrinsic property of the full-length N-Ras lipoprotein, which may further be modulated by specific protein–protein interactions in the cell.

Supporting Information

The Supporting Information is available free of charge on the ACS Publications website at DOI: 10.1021/acs.biochem.7b01181.

• Complete Materials and Methods section, Tables S1 and S2 with lifetime and size-exclusion data, supporting figures, and estimates of protein surface densities

https://pubs.acs.org/doi/suppl/10.1021/acs.biochem.7b01181/suppl_file/bi7b01181_si_001.pdf

Acknowledgment

The authors are grateful to Dr. Erwin London and Dr. Alemayehu Gorfe for critical reading of the manuscript and helpful discussions.

References

- 1. Karnovsky, M. J., Kleinfeld, A. M., Hoover, R. L., and Klausner, R. D. (**1982**) The concept of lipid domains in membranes *J. Cell Biol.* 94, 1– 6 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.94.1.1
- Schroeder, R., London, E., and Brown, D. (1994) Interactions between Saturated Acyl Chains Confer Detergent Resistance on Lipids and Glycosylphosphatidylinositol (Gpi)-Anchored Proteins - Gpi-Anchored Proteins in Liposomes and Cells Show Similar Behavior *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 91, 12130–12134 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.91.25.12130
- 3. Simons, K. and Ikonen, E. (**1997**) Functional rafts in cell membranes *Nature* 387, 569– 572 DOI: 10.1038/42408
- 4. Brown, D. A. and London, E. (**1998**) Functions of lipid rafts in biological membranes *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 14, 111–136 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.14.1.111
- 5. Lingwood, D. and Simons, K. (**2010**) Lipid rafts as a membrane-organizing principle *Science* 327, 46–50 DOI: 10.1126/science.1174621
- Garcia-Parajo, M. F., Cambi, A., Torreno-Pina, J. A., Thompson, N., and Jacobson, K. (2014) Nanoclustering as a dominant feature of plasma membrane organization *J. Cell Sci.* 127, 4995– 5005 DOI: 10.1242/jcs.146340
- Wunderlich, F., Kreutz, W., Mahler, P., Ronai, A., and Heppeler, G. (1978) Thermotropic fluid goes to ordered "discontinuous" phase separation in microsomal lipids of Tetrahymena. An X-ray diffraction study *Biochemistry* 17, 2005–2010 DOI: 10.1021/bi00603a032
- 8. Brown, D. A. and London, E. (**2000**) Structure and function of sphingolipid- and cholesterol-rich membrane rafts *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 17221– 17224 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.R000005200

- Dietrich, C., Bagatolli, L. A., Volovyk, Z. N., Thompson, N. L., Levi, M., Jacobson, K., and Gratton, E. (2001) Lipid rafts reconstituted in model membranes *Biophys. J.* 80, 1417–1428 DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3495(01)76114-0
- 10. Crane, J. M. and Tamm, L. K. (**2007**) Fluorescence Microscopy to Study Domains in Supported Lipid Bilayers *Methods Mol. Biol.* 400, 481– 488 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-59745-519-0_32
- Eggeling, C., Ringemann, C., Medda, R., Schwarzmann, G., Sandhoff, K., Polyakova, S., Belov, V. N., Hein, B., von Middendorff, C., Schonle, A., and Hell, S. W. (2009) Direct observation of the nanoscale dynamics of membrane lipids in a living cell *Nature* 457, 1159– U1121 DOI: 10.1038/nature07596
- 12. Pike, L. J. (**2009**) The challenge of lipid rafts *J. Lipid Res.* 50 (Suppl) S323– 328 DOI: 10.1194/jlr.R800040-JLR200
- 13. Leslie, M. (**2011**) Mysteries of the cell. Do lipid rafts exist? *Science* 334, 1046– 1047 DOI: 10.1126/science.334.6059.1046-b
- 14. Simons, K. and Sampaio, J. L. (**2011**) Membrane Organization and Lipid Rafts *Cold Spring Harbor Perspect. Biol.* 3, a004697 DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a004697
- Brown, D. A. and Rose, J. K. (1992) Sorting of GPI-anchored proteins to glycolipid-enriched membrane subdomains during transport to the apical cell surface *Cell* 68, 533– 544 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(92)90189-J
- Takeda, M., Leser, G. P., Russell, C. J., and Lamb, R. A. (2003) Influenza virus hemagglutinin concentrates in lipid raft microdomains for efficient viral fusion *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 100, 14610–14617 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2235620100
- Sargiacomo, M., Sudol, M., Tang, Z., and Lisanti, M. P. (1993) Signal transducing molecules and glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-linked proteins form a caveolin-rich insoluble complex in MDCK cells J. Cell Biol. 122, 789– 807 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.122.4.789
- 18. Jacobson, K., Mouritsen, O. G., and Anderson, R. G. W. (**2007**) Lipid rafts: at a crossroad between cell biology and physics *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9, 7–14 DOI: 10.1038/ncb0107-7
- 19. Levental, I., Grzybek, M., and Simons, K. (**2010**) Greasing Their Way: Lipid Modifications Determine Protein Association with Membrane Rafts *Biochemistry* 49, 6305–6316 DOI: 10.1021/bi100882y
- 20. Hancock, J. F. and Parton, R. G. (2005) Ras plasma membrane signalling platforms *Biochem. J.* 389, 1–11 DOI: 10.1042/BJ20050231
- Hancock, J. F. (2003) Ras Proteins: Different Signals from Different Locations Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4, 373– 385 DOI: 10.1038/nrm1105
- 22. Prior, I. A., Harding, A., Yan, J., Sluimer, J., Parton, R. G., and Hancock, J. F. (2001) GTP-dependent segregation of H-ras from lipid rafts is required for biological activity *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3, 368–375 DOI: 10.1038/35070050
- 23. Prior, I. A. and Hancock, J. F. (2001) Compartmentalization of Ras proteins J. Cell Sci. 114, 1603–1608
- 24. Colicelli, J. (**2004**) Human RAS Superfamily Proteins and Related GTPases *Sci. Signaling* 2004, re13 DOI: 10.1126/stke.2502004re13
- 25. Malumbres, M. and Barbacid, M. (**2003**) RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 3, 459–465 DOI: 10.1038/nrc1097
- 26. Pylayeva-Gupta, Y., Grabocka, E., and Bar-Sagi, D. (**2011**) RAS oncogenes: weaving a tumorigenic web *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 11, 761–774 DOI: 10.1038/nrc3106
- 27. Papke, B. and Der, C. J. (**2017**) Drugging RAS: Know the enemy *Science* 355, 1158–1163 DOI: 10.1126/science.aam7622

- 28. Zhang, Z. and Wang, Z. (2011) K-Ras role in lung cancer therapy Minerva Chir. 66, 251–268
- 29. Hancock, J. F., Magee, A. I., Childs, J. E., and Marshall, C. J. (**1989**) All ras proteins are polyisoprenylated but only some are palmitoylated *Cell* 57, 1167–1177 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(89)90054-8
- 30. Eisenberg, S., Laude, A. J., Beckett, A. J., Mageean, C. J., Aran, V., Hernandez-Valladares, M., Henis, Y.
 I., and Prior, I. A. (2013) The role of palmitoylation in regulating Ras localization and function Biochem. Soc. Trans. 41, 79–83 DOI: 10.1042/BST20120268
- 31. Wittinghofer, A. and Vetter, I. R. (2011) Structure-Function Relationships of the G Domain, a Canonical Switch Motif. In Annu. Rev. Biochem. (Kornberg, R. D., Raetz, C. R. H., Rothman, J. E., and Thorner, J. W., Eds.) pp 80, 943–971, Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, CA. DOI: 10.1146/annurevbiochem-062708-134043
- 32. Eisenberg, S. and Henis, Y. I. (2008) Interactions of Ras proteins with the plasma membrane and their roles in signaling *Cell. Signalling* 20, 31– 39 DOI: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2007.07.012
- 33. Bar-Sagi, D. (2001) A Ras by Any Other Name Mol. Cell. Biol. 21, 1441–1443 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.21.5.1441-1443.2001
- 34. Lowy, D. R. and Willumsen, B. M. (**1993**) Function and Regulation of RAS *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 62, 851–891 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.bi.62.070193.004223
- 35. Hancock, J. F., Paterson, H., and Marshall, C. J. (1990) A polybasic domain or palmitoylation is required in addition to the CAAX motif to localize p21ras to the plasma membrane *Cell* 63, 133– 139 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90294-O
- 36. Henis, Y. I., Hancock, J. F., and Prior, I. A. (**2009**) Ras acylation, compartmentalization and signaling nanoclusters (Review) *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 26, 80– 92 DOI: 10.1080/09687680802649582
- Niv, H., Gutman, O., Kloog, Y., and Henis, Y. I. (2002) Activated K-Ras and H-Ras display different interactions with saturable nonraft sites at the surface of live cells *J. Cell Biol.* 157, 865–872 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.200202009
- Prior, I. A., Muncke, C., Parton, R. G., and Hancock, J. F. (2003) Direct visualization of Ras proteins in spatially distinct cell surface microdomains *J. Cell Biol.* 160, 165–170 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.200209091
- 39. Michael, J. V., Wurtzel, J. G. T., and Goldfinger, L. E. (**2016**) Regulation of H-Ras-driven MAPK signaling, transformation and tumorigenesis, but not PI3K signaling and tumor progression, by plasma membrane microdomains *Oncogenesis* 5, e228 DOI: 10.1038/oncsis.2016.36
- 40. Rotblat, B., Prior, I. A., Muncke, C., Parton, R. G., Kloog, Y., Henis, Y. I., and Hancock, J. F. (2004) Three separable domains regulate GTP-dependent association of H-ras with the plasma membrane *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 6799–6810 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.24.15.6799-6810.2004
- Belanis, L., Plowman, S. J., Rotblat, B., Hancock, J. F., and Kloog, Y. (2008) Galectin-1 is a novel structural component and a major regulator of H-Ras nanoclusters *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 1404–1414 DOI: 10.1091/mbc.E07-10-1053
- 42. Matallanas, D., Arozarena, I., Berciano, M. T., Aaronson, D. S., Pellicer, A., Lafarga, M., and Crespo, P. (2003) Differences on the inhibitory Specificities of H-Ras, K-Ras, and N-Ras (N17) dominant negative mutants are related to their membrane microlocalization *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 4572–4581 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M209807200
- 43. Roy, S., Plowman, S., Rotblat, B., Prior, I. A., Muncke, C., Grainger, S., Parton, R. G., Henis, Y. I., Kloog,
 Y., and Hancock, J. F. (2005) Individual palmitoyl residues serve distinct roles in H-ras trafficking,

microlocalization, and signaling *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 6722–6733 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.25.15.6722-6733.2005

- Nicolini, C., Baranski, J., Schlummer, S., Palomo, J., Lumbierres-Burgues, M., Kahms, M., Kuhlmann, J., Sanchez, S., Gratton, E., Waldmann, H., and Winter, R. (**2006**) Visualizing Association of N-Ras in Lipid Microdomains: Influence of Domain Structure and Interfacial Adsorption *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 128, 192–201 DOI: 10.1021/ja055779x
- 45. Weise, K., Triola, G., Brunsveld, L., Waldmann, H., and Winter, R. (**2009**) Influence of the Lipidation Motif on the Partitioning and Association of N-Ras in Model Membrane Subdomains *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 131, 1557–1564 DOI: 10.1021/ja808691r
- 46. Erwin, N., Sperlich, B., Garivet, G., Waldmann, H., Weise, K., and Winter, R. (**2016**) Lipoprotein insertion into membranes of various complexity: lipid sorting, interfacial adsorption and protein clustering *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **18**, 8954–8962 DOI: 10.1039/C6CP00563B
- 47. Erwin, N., Patra, S., Dwivedi, M., Weise, K., and Winter, R. (**2017**) Influence of isoform-specific Ras lipidation motifs on protein partitioning and dynamics in model membrane systems of various complexity *Biol. Chem.* 398, 547–563 DOI: 10.1515/hsz-2016-0289
- 48. Silvius, J. R. (2003) Fluorescence Energy Transfer Reveals Microdomain Formation at Physiological Temperatures in Lipid Mixtures Modeling the Outer Leaflet of the Plasma Membrane *Biophys. J.* 85, 1034–1045 DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3495(03)74542-1
- Heberle, F. A., Wu, J., Goh, S. L., Petruzielo, R. S., and Feigenson, G. W. (2010) Comparison of three ternary lipid bilayer mixtures: FRET and ESR reveal nanodomains *Biophys. J.* 99, 3309–3318 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpj.2010.09.064
- 50. Pathak, P. and London, E. (2011) Measurement of Lipid Nanodomain (Raft) Formation and Size in Sphingomyelin/POPC/Cholesterol Vesicles Shows TX-100 and Transmembrane Helices Increase Domain Size by Coalescing Preexisting Nanodomains But Do Not Induce Domain Formation *Biophys. J.* 101, 2417–2425 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpj.2011.08.059
- 51. Abankwa, D., Gorfe, A. A., and Hancock, J. F. (**2008**) Mechanisms of Ras membrane organization and signaling: Ras on a rocker *Cell Cycle* 7, 2667–2673 DOI: 10.4161/cc.7.17.6596
- Abankwa, D., Hanzal-Bayer, M., Ariotti, N., Plowman, S. J., Gorfe, A. A., Parton, R. G., McCammon, J. A., and Hancock, J. F. (2008) A novel switch region regulates H-ras membrane orientation and signal output *EMBO J.* 27, 727–735 DOI: 10.1038/emboj.2008.10
- 53. Tamm, L. K. and McConnell, H. M. (1985) Supported phospholipid bilayers *Biophys. J.* 47, 105–113 DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3495(85)83882-0 54. London, E. and Feigenson, G. W. (1981) Fluorescence Quenching in Model Membranes an Analysis of the Local Phospholipid Environments of Diphenylhexatriene and Gramicidin-a *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Biomembr.* 649, 89–97 DOI: 10.1016/0005-2736(81)90012-2
- 55. Samsonov, A. V., Mihalyov, I., and Cohen, F. S. (2001) Characterization of cholesterol-sphingomyelin domains and their dynamics in bilayer membranes *Biophys. J.* 81, 1486–1500 DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3495(01)75803-1
- 56. Repakova, J., Capkova, P., Holopainen, J. M., and Vattulainen, I. (2004) Distribution, orientation, and dynamics of DPH probes in DPPC bilayer J. Phys. Chem. B 108, 13438–13448 DOI: 10.1021/jp048381g
- 57. Fastenberg, M. E., Shogomori, H., Xu, X., Brown, D. A., and London, E. (**2003**) Exclusion of a transmembrane-type peptide from ordered-lipid domains (rafts) detected by fluorescence

quenching: extension of quenching analysis to account for the effects of domain size and domain boundaries *Biochemistry* 42, 12376–12390 DOI: 10.1021/bi034718d

- Janosi, L., Li, Z. L., Hancock, J. F., and Gorfe, A. A. (2012) Organization, dynamics, and segregation of Ras nanoclusters in membrane domains *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 109, 8097–8102 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1200773109
- 59. García-Sáez, A. J., Chiantia, S., and Schwille, P. (2007) Effect of line tension on the lateral organization of lipid membranes *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 33537–33544 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M706162200
- 60. García-Sáez, A. J. and Schwille, P. (**2010**) Stability of lipid domains *FEBS Lett.* 584, 1653–1658 DOI: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.12.036
- Bernsdorff, C., Winter, R., Hazlett, T. L., and Gratton, E. (1995) Influence of cholesterol and betasitosterol on the dynamic behaviour of DPPC as detected by TMA-DPH and PyrPC fluorescence -A fluorescence lifetime distribution and time-resolved anisotropy study *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 99, 1479–1488 DOI: 10.1002/bbpc.199500112
- 62. Dong, C. Y., So, P. T. C., French, T., and Gratton, E. (**1995**) Fluorescence lifetime imaging by asynchronous pump-probe microscopy *Biophys. J.* 69, 2234–2242 DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3495(95)80148-7
- 63. Haluska, C. K., Schroder, A. P., Didier, P., Heissler, D., Duportail, G., Mely, Y., and Marques, C. M.
 (2008) Combining Fluorescence Lifetime and Polarization Microscopy to Discriminate Phase Separated Domains in Giant Unilamellar Vesicles *Biophys. J.* 95, 5737–5747 DOI: 10.1529/biophysj.108.131490
- 64. Stockl, M. T. and Herrmann, A. (**2010**) Detection of lipid domains in model and cell membranes by fluorescence lifetime imaging microscopy *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Biomembr.* 1798, 1444–1456 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2009.12.015
- 65. Stockl, M., Plazzo, A. P., Korte, T., and Herrmann, A. (2008) Detection of Lipid Domains in Model and Cell Membranes by Fluorescence Lifetime Imaging Microscopy of Fluorescent Lipid Analogues J. Biol. Chem. 283, 30828–30837 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M801418200
- 66. Ludolph, B., Eisele, F., and Waldmann, H. (**2002**) Solid-phase synthesis of lipidated peptides *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 124, 5954–5955 DOI: 10.1021/ja025768t
- 67. Lumbierres, M., Palomo, J. M., Kragol, G., Roehrs, S., Muller, O., and Waldmann, H. (**2005**) Solidphase synthesis of lipidated peptides *Chem. - Eur. J.* 11, 7405–7415 DOI: 10.1002/chem.200500476
- 68. Kragol, G., Lumbierres, M., Palomo, J. M., and Waldmann, H. (**2004**) Solid-phase synthesis of lipidated peptides *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 43, 5839– 5842 DOI: 10.1002/anie.200461150
- 69. Ahmadian, M. R., Wittinghofer, A., and Herrmann, C. (**2002**) Fluorescence methods in the study of small GTP-binding proteins *Methods Mol. Biol.* 189, 45–63 DOI: 10.1385/1-59259-281-3:045
- 70. Margarit, S. M., Sondermann, H., Hall, B. E., Nagar, B., Hoelz, A., Pirruccello, M., Bar-Sagi, D., and Kuriyan, J. (2003) Structural Evidence for Feedback Activation by Ras[middle dot]GTP of the Ras-Specific Nucleotide Exchange Factor SOS *Cell* 112, 685–695 DOI: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00149-1
- 71. Ni, D. Q., Shaffer, J., and Adams, J. A. (**2000**) Insights into nucleotide binding in protein kinase A using fluorescent adenosine derivatives *Protein Sci.* 9, 1818–1827 DOI: 10.1110/ps.9.9.1818
- 72. Mazhab-Jafari, M. T., Marshall, C. B., Smith, M., Gasmi-Seabrook, G. M., Stambolic, V., Rottapel, R., Neel, B. G., and Ikura, M. (**2010**) Real-time NMR study of three small GTPases reveals that

fluorescent 2'(3')-O-(N-methylanthraniloyl)-tagged nucleotides alter hydrolysis and exchange kinetics *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 5132–5136 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.C109.064766

- 73. Korlach, J., Baird, D. W., Heikal, A. A., Gee, K. R., Hoffman, G. R., and Webb, W. W. (2004) Spontaneous nucleotide exchange in low molecular weight GTPases by fluorescently labeled gamma-phosphate-linked GTP analogs *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101, 2800–2805 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0308579100
- 74. Runnels, L. W. and Scarlata, S. F. (**1995**) Theory and Application of Fluorescence Homotransfer to Melittin Oligomerization *Biophys. J.* 69, 1569–1583 DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3495(95)80030-5
- 75. Kalinin, S., Isaksson, M., and Johansson, L. B.-A. (2005) Non-Exponential Fluorescence of Electronically Coupled Donors. In Advanced Methods and their Applications to Membranes, Proteins, DNA, and Cells (Hof, M., Hutterer, R., and Fidler, V., Eds.) pp 49– 55, Springer, Berlin.
- 76. Rotblat, B., Belanis, L., Liang, H., Haklai, R., Elad-Zefadia, G., Hancock, J. F., Kloog, Y., and Plowman, S. J. (2010) H-Ras Nanocluster Stability Regulates the Magnitude of MAPK Signal Output *PLoS One* 5, e11991 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011991
- 77. Abankwa, D., Gorfe, A. A., and Hancock, J. F. (**2007**) Ras nanoclusters: Molecular structure and assembly *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 18, 599– 607 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2007.08.003
- Agudo-Ibanez, L., Herrero, A., Barbacid, M., and Crespo, P. (2015) H-Ras Distribution and Signaling in Plasma Membrane Microdomains Are Regulated by Acylation and Deacylation Events *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 35, 1898–1914 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.01398-14
- 79. van Meer, G., Voelker, D. R., and Feigenson, G. W. (**2008**) Membrane lipids: where they are and how they behave *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 9, 112–124 DOI: 10.1038/nrm2330
- 80. Leventis, P. A. and Grinstein, S. (**2010**) The Distribution and Function of Phosphatidylserine in Cellular Membranes *Annu. Rev. Biophys.* 39, 407– 427 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.biophys.093008.131234
- 81. Silvius, J. R. (**2003**) Role of cholesterol in lipid raft formation: lessons from lipid model systems *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Biomembr.* 1610, 174– 183 DOI: 10.1016/S0005-2736(03)00016-6
- 82. Lin, Q. and London, E. (**2015**) Ordered raft domains induced by outer leaflet sphingomyelin in cholesterol-rich asymmetric vesicles *Biophys. J.* 108, 2212–2222 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpj.2015.03.056
- 83. Heberle, F. A., Marquardt, D., Doktorova, M., Geier, B., Standaert, R. F., Heftberger, P., Kollmitzer, B., Nickels, J. D., Dick, R. A., Feigenson, G. W., Katsaras, J., London, E., and Pabst, G. (2016) Subnanometer Structure of an Asymmetric Model Membrane: Interleaflet Coupling Influences Domain Properties Langmuir 32, 5195–5200 DOI: 10.1021/acs.langmuir.5b04562
- 84. Devaux, P. F. and Morris, R. (**2004**) Transmembrane asymmetry and lateral domains in biological membranes *Traffic* 5, 241–246 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2004.0170.x
- Larsen, J. B., Jensen, M. B., Bhatia, V. K., Pedersen, S. L., Bjornholm, T., Iversen, L., Uline, M., Szleifer, I., Jensen, K. J., Hatzakis, N. S., and Stamou, D. (**2015**) Membrane curvature enables N-Ras lipid anchor sorting to liquid-ordered membrane phases *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 11, 192–194 DOI: 10.1038/nchembio.1733
- 86. Li, Z. L., Janosi, L., and Gorfe, A. A. (2012) Formation and Domain Partitioning of H-ras Peptide Nanoclusters: Effects of Peptide Concentration and Lipid Composition J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134, 17278–17285 DOI: 10.1021/ja307716z
- 87. Gorfe, A. A., Hanzal-Bayer, M., Abankwa, D., Hancock, J. F., and McCammon, J. A. (2007) Structure and Dynamics of the Full-Length Lipid-Modified H-Ras Protein in a 1,2-Dimyristoylglycero-3phosphocholine Bilayer J. Med. Chem. 50, 674–684 DOI: 10.1021/jm061053f

- Abankwa, D., Gorfe, A. A., Inder, K., and Hancock, J. F. (2010) Ras membrane orientation and nanodomain localization generate isoform diversity *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 107, 1130– 1135 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0903907107
- 89. O'Connor, C. and Kovrigin, E. L. (**2008**) Global conformational dynamics in Ras *Biochemistry* 47, 10244–10246 DOI: 10.1021/bi801076c
- 90. Buhrman, G., O'Connor, C., Zerbe, B., Kearney, B. M., Napoleon, R., Kovrigina, E. A., Vajda, S., Kozakov, D., Kovrigin, E. L., and Mattos, C. (2011) Analysis of binding site hot spots on the surface of Ras GTPase J. Mol. Biol. 413, 773–789 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.09.011
- 91. Buhrman, G., Holzapfel, G., Fetics, S., and Mattos, C. (2010) Allosteric modulation of Ras positions Q61 for a direct role in catalysis *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 107, 4931–4936 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0912226107
- 92. O'Connor, C. and Kovrigin, E. L. (**2012**) Characterization of the Second Ion-Binding Site in the G Domain of H-Ras *Biochemistry* 51, 9638–9646 DOI: 10.1021/bi301304g
- 93. Werkmuller, A., Triola, G., Waldmann, H., and Winter, R. (2013) Rotational and Translational Dynamics of Ras Proteins upon Binding to Model Membrane Systems *ChemPhysChem* 14, 3698– 3705 DOI: 10.1002/cphc.201300617
- 94. Paz, A., Haklai, R., Elad-Sfadia, G., Ballan, E., and Kloog, Y. (2001) Galectin-1 binds oncogenic H-Ras to mediate Ras membrane anchorage and cell transformation *Oncogene* 20, 7486–7493 DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1204950
- 95. Chung, J. K., Lee, Y. K., Lam, H. Y., and Groves, J. T. (2016) Covalent Ras Dimerization on Membrane Surfaces through Photosensitized Oxidation J. Am. Chem. Soc. 138, 1800–1803 DOI: 10.1021/jacs.5b12648
- 96. Kovrigina, E. A., Galiakhmetov, A. R., and Kovrigin, E. L. (**2015**) Ras G domain lacks intrinsic propensity to form dimers *Biophys. J.* 109, 1000– 1008 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpj.2015.07.020